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No undertakings were filed during this proceeding.

Monday, February 12, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:37 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

Good morning.  The Board is sitting today in EB-2017-0336, which is a motion by Hydro One Networks Inc. to review and vary the Board's decision in EB-2016-0160.

My name is Cathy Spoel.  I'm the presiding member today, and sitting with me are Allison Duff and Rumina Velshi.

Before we do anything else can I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. NETTLETON:  Good morning, Panel.  My name is Gordon Nettleton.  I appear on behalf of Hydro One Networks Inc.  With me is Mr. Doug Cannon, a partner of mine at McCarthy Tétrault, and Sam Rogers, an associate of ours, and Justin Shoemaker.

I'd also like to acknowledge the appearance here today of Ms. Petrillo, who is the Ombudsman for Hydro One Networks Inc.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition, and with me is Mark Rubenstein.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Good morning.  Emma Blanchard on behalf of CME.

MS. LEA:  Jennifer Lea for Board Staff, and with me is Mark Rozic.

MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner, consultant with VECC, and I'll let my colleague introduce herself.

MS. CHOW:  Jennifer Chow.  I'm the articling student for counsel to VECC.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers' Council of Canada.

MR. McEACHRAN:  Jody McEachran, Hydro One.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Richard Stephenson.  I'm counsel for the Power Workers' Union.  Good morning.

MS. CHEUNG:  Glenda Cheung, Hydro One.

MS. YAM:  Selma Yam, Hydro One as well.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

Before we start, are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, there is one matter.  I'm not sure if -- sorry, Madam Chair, there is one preliminary matter.  I'm not sure that you have received this handout, if you will.  I've provided copies to Ms. Lea.  And it is just a document that we would likely be referring to, and I've provided copies to my friends.

It is -- it concerns part of the statements that BOMA and SEC have relied on in their arguments.  And we have provided excerpts, obviously, to our friends and to Ms. Lea, and that would be a document that we would like marked for purposes of our submissions today.

MS. LEA:  Can I suggest that we mark this as an exhibit for identification purposes.  Exhibit 1 on the motion.
EXHIBIT NO. 1 ON THE MOTION (FOR IDENTIFICATION):  DOCUMENT OF EXCERPTS PROVIDED BY MR. NETTLETON


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  We will do that, and then, Mr. Nettleton, I assume you will be using this in your reply argument.  When we get there we can deal with it.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Any other preliminaries?  All right.

So how we intend to proceed today, as indicated in the procedural order, the Board has received and reviewed in some detail all the written arguments to date, and we thank counsel for their clarity and usefulness.

So what we have -- we have some questions for most of the parties.  We'll start with Panel questions to Hydro One.  Then we will have questions, if any, for Power Workers Union, as they are supporting Hydro One's position; then Board Staff, then the intervenors; and then we'll deal with Hydro One's reply, and I think regardless of where we are, we'll take the lunch break before Hydro One's reply argument so that Hydro One has a chance to consider questions and answers and so on.

So that's our sort of proposal for the -- or proposed procedure for the day.  And we will finish off, obviously, with Hydro One's reply argument.
Questions by the Board:


So what I'd like to do is start off with some questions of Hydro One basically for context just to make sure, since we weren't on the original panel and we weren't part of the IPO and all the rest of it, just to make sure that we completely understand the context that we're dealing with here.  So it's really just to clarify some of the factual basis and the series of events.

So, Mr. Nettleton, if you can just sort of -- or Mr. Cannon, whoever, deal with these.

So as I understand it, the basic sequence of events is that at some point prior to 2015 -- well, the dates don't really matter, but the government of Ontario decided to allow Hydro One to -- or decided to sell some of its shares in Hydro One to the public, just to put it in a narrow sort of basic -- sort of basic terms, and in doing so did an initial public offering and sold shares on the market.

As a result of that transaction, the tax regime to which Hydro One was subject changed.  The Hydro One became -- and sort of say yes as we go; when I make a mistake, stop me -- so Hydro One ceased to be exempt from the federal Income Tax Act and became a taxable corporation, in simple terms.

At the same time Hydro One ceased to be subject to the Ontario government's PILs or payment in lieu of taxes regime because it was now subject to the Income Tax Act, because a PILs only applies, as I understand it, to companies that don't pay income tax because it is in lieu of income tax.  I mean, is that fair enough so far?

MR. NETTLETON:  So maybe I'll back up and --


MS. SPOEL:  Sure, please.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- and I'll have my partner chime in, Mr. Cannon chime in when necessary here, but you are quite right that everything about this issue starts with the province's decision to sell its ownership interest.  But for the sale of the province's shares we wouldn't be here.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.

MR. NETTLETON:  The income-tax amount that Hydro One applied for as part of its rates revenue requirement would be based on the same methodology that applied prior to the IPO transaction.

So there is -- there is no contemplated change between how taxes were calculated in prior years and how it was calculated in the application.

To the IPO transaction, you're correct that when that behaviour -- when that decision was taken by the province, a series of inextricably linked events occurred, and they occurred because of the operation of the statute.  The Electricity Act, provisions of section of 88 -- or 89 and 90 and the regulations under that statute applied, and because the volume or the percentage of shares that the province sold was more than 10 percent, that caused the PILs departure tax to apply for exiting the scheme.  It caused the change in legislation to apply; i.e., you're departing from one tax scheme and you are moving into the federal scheme, and that also then caused the provisions of the federal Income Tax Act to apply too, which is section 149, which resulted in CCA.

MS. SPOEL:  When you talk about -- so -- I'm getting a bit -- all right.  So all -- and all that happened, effectively, as of the date of the public offering.

MR. CANNON:  Yes, that's right --


MS. SPOEL:  Okay.

MR. CANNON:  -- the date of the sale of the shares.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  So -- and if the -- the valuation, I presume, could have gone either way.  It could have been that the new -- I  mean, the new fair market value of Hydro One under the Income Tax Act is whatever it happens to be, and it could have been higher or lower, I presume.


MR. CANNON:  No, the fair market value for the computation of PILs is the fair market value of the assets, and it's actually done by cross reference to the Income Tax Act.


MS. SPOEL:  Right.


MR. CANNON:  So the fair market value of the assets that gives rise to the gain and the recapture, that's the same number that becomes the fair market value and therefore the cost of the assets, once you are into the taxable regime.


And I guess I would add, with respect to the taxable regime, it is not just Federal taxes; you are becoming liable to provincial taxes as well.


MS. SPOEL:  Right, right, so is it -- just using a really basic example that maybe some of us are more familiar with in our day-to-day lives, it is a bit like a deemed disposition on death.  You are deemed to sell all your capital assets, and then the estate reacquires them at whatever that deemed -- I realize that only applies to capital assets, but you're deemed to have sold them at whatever the price was on the day you died, and then your estate has reacquired them at the new value, which could be higher -- at the same value, but it could be higher or lower than your adjusted cost base going in.


MR. CANNON:  Yes, that's right.


MS. SPOEL:  And that was really my question, that that new fair market value would be -- could be higher or lower than the value on the books.


MR. CANNON:  Yes, it could be.


MS. SPOEL:  That what is I was trying to get at.  But in this case, it happened to be higher.


MR. CANNON:  Yes, that's right.


MS. SPOEL:  All right.  So when the transaction happened, and this is the part that gets more -- that I get a little bit, perhaps a little bit shakier on; I'm not sure.  When the IPO occurred or was completed, or whatever the word is for a public offering, Hydro One Inc., I take it, continued -- had -- there was a whole class of shares created, some of which are retained by Hydro One and some of which were sold to other parties.  Is that, in simple terms, kind of how it works, or what's the sort of share structure before it was owned by the public, and then after some of it was owned by the public, like a very basic --


MR. CANNON:  Hydro One Limited was the parent company.


MS. SPOEL:  Okay.


MR. CANNON:  And it owned Hydro One Network Inc.  And so all of the companies in the corporate group ceased to be exempt from tax as a result of the sale of more than 10 percent of the shares of Hydro One Limited.


MS. SPOEL:  So it's Hydro One Limited that is the parent company.


MR. CANNON:  Yes.


MS. SPOEL:  Okay, fine.  I don't know why I thought it was Inc.  So Hydro One Limited is still the sole shareholder -- I don't know if anything turns on this, but I want to understand it.  Hydro One Limited is the sole shareholder of Hydro One Networks Inc., but Hydro One Limited in turn is partly owned by the government of Ontario now, and partly owned by third-party shareholders, so by members of the public.


MR. CANNON:  Strictly speaking, Hydro One Limited wholly owns Hydro One Inc., which wholly owns Hydro One Networks.


 MS. SPOEL:  All right.  I thought there was an Inc. in there somewhere.


MR. NETTLETON:  In terms of your question, Ms. Spoel, regarding the classes of shares, there is only one class.


MS. SPOEL:  Right.  At present, some those shares are owned by the government of Ontario, and some of them are owned by other entities, right.  It could be you -- it can't be me, because I'm not allowed to own them, but it could be you -- or maybe not.


Okay.  So then and before -- and prior to -- prior to the public offering, did Hydro One Limited actually have shares, or was it simply just wholly-owned by the Crown?  I don't know how it works.


MR. CANNON:  It was a share capital corporation.


MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  So essentially, it just sold off some of those shares.


MR. CANNON:  Yes.


MS. SPOEL:  Again, in simple terms.


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, there were -- as the evidence reflected in the proceeding, there were some transactions that took place where there was an injection of new capital --


MS. SPOEL:  Right.


MR. NETTLETON:  -- to fund payment of the PILs departure tax.


MS. SPOEL:  Right.


MR. NETTLETON:  And that resulted in -- ultimately, after that happened, there was the IPO transaction where there was the disposition of ownership to the public.


MS. SPOEL:  So there were two steps there.  First of all, there was an issue -- an issue of…


MR. NETTLETON:  Well, before the transaction, as Mr. Cannon said, Hydro One had a shareholder, namely the province.


MS. SPOEL:  Right.


MR. NETTLETON:  There was share capital, so the province had those shares, right.  And so then what happened was the decision to dispose of more than 10 percent happened, the PILs departure tax was triggered, and Hydro One had to pay that tax.  The way it funded that tax was through an equity infusion by the province.


MS. SPOEL:  Right.


MR. NETTLETON:  So there was a take back of shares, which then ultimately resulted in -- that accumulated shares was the basis upon which the IPO was then determined and calculated.


This is a very summarized view of how it happened, but yes.


MS. SPOEL:  I think for our purposes right now, that's probably -- well, for my purposes...


MR. NETTLETON:  But I think a very important point is that there is only one share class.


MS. SPOEL:  Right.


MR. NETTLETON:  And that's important.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  So then moving back a little bit, prior to the decision to -- or the events that led to the IPO, so let's say the month before, the year before, I presume that Hydro One Limited paid PILs to the province every year as its tax obligation, or to -- who did it pay?  Who did it pay?


MR. CANNON:  Well, Hydro One Networks Inc. certainly did pay PILs.  We haven't really looked at Hydro One Limited.  But to the extent that Hydro One Limited had income that otherwise would have been subject to federal and provincial tax, if it had been a taxable entity, then it would have paid PILs as well, because all of Hydro One Limited, Hydro One Inc., and Hydro One Networks are all subject to the Electricity Act.


MS. SPOEL:  So Hydro One -- it was Hydro One Networks Inc. that paid the PILs.  It wasn't paid as a consolidated -- like I think if you have a non-government company and it pays tax, it pays it on its consolidated balance sheet.


MR. CANNON:  No, that's not right, actually.  That is true under the U.S. tax system, but under the Canadian tax system, each corporation is separate.  So each corporation in a corporate group has its own financial statements and has to file a tax return and pay taxes.  It is not done on a consolidated basis.


MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  All right.


MR. NETTLETON:  But to your point, the PILs payments were paid by the regulated utility, Hydro One Networks Inc., and they were paid and due and owing under the very same statutory regime as the PILs departure tax.


MS. SPOEL:  Right, right, so following -- so then you had the date of the public -- you had the public offering, PILs departure tax was paid and from then on, you were subject to the income tax -- the federal Income Tax Act which collects federal and provincial taxes.  And that's the situation today and going forward.


MR. CANNON:  That's right.


MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Now, did -- when the PILs departure tax was paid by -- was all PILs paid to the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation?  Is that the right name?


MR. NETTLETON:  The acronym is OEFC, which is the Ontario Electricity Finance Corporation, and the evidence in this proceeding was that Hydro One Networks Inc. -- sorry, Hydro One Limited on a consolidated basis paid the PILs departure tax by way of wire transfer.


MS. SPOEL:  Right.


MR. NETTLETON:  And so that -- those amounts were paid to the OEFC.


MS. SPOEL:  Right, and was it -- and had Hydro One Inc. -- or Networks Inc., I guess, always paid its PILs to the OEFC?  Was that the -- I'm sure it's all in the statutes.


MR. NETTLETON:  No, that's correct.  And that's again part of the statutory regime, that the PILs payments are directed to the OEFC because those funds, under the statutory scheme, are directed for a specific purpose.


MS. SPOEL:  Right, and do municipally owned utilities pay to the OEFC as well?


MR. CANNON:  Yes, they do.


MS. SPOEL:  All right, I think, just in terms of getting a picture of what's going on, those are probably my questions.


MS. DUFF:  Good morning.  I have a number of questions regarding the notice of motion, so we are going to go through the first ten pages to make sure our understanding is clear.


Hydro One identified four principle errors in the decision, and that's on page 3.  I mean, I don't think it's necessary to turn it up, but I just wanted to talk about each one to make sure that my understanding is clear.


The first one was that the decision erroneously found that the departure tax was variable.  Now, I know in your argument-in-chief you have a distinction with the word "fixed", but actually I wanted to explore a little bit more what you meant by "the variable."  Is it just variable versus fixed that we're talking about?


MR. NETTLETON:  No, it's not, Ms. Duff.  The term "variable" was used by the panel and is found in the decision.


MS. DUFF:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  And it was used in the context of also the word "waiver" or the tax could be forgiven.  And it was that issue that we submit is an error, in that it contextualizes the PILs departure tax as being something less than a cost that had to be paid by Hydro One and, in fact, was paid by Hydro One.


So it is -- the concern that we have raised in our motion is that by the panel finding or using this characterization of variability, we are proceeding down a hypothetical course of action, a fiction, and that's of concern to us, because it wasn't forgiven.  It wasn't waived.  It was paid.


And when you look at this issue of discretion or variability or forgiveness, the concern is, is that when you look at other PILs payments that arise under that same statutory regime, the same type of variability or forgiveness or discretion could have been applied and could be applied to those PILs payments.


In RP-2004 what the decision in fact found in that case, and what this Board has relied on, is that PILs are actual taxes.  The PILs payments, the annual PILs payments, are actual taxes, and they are recoverable through rates.  And they are -- they are a cost borne by the regulated utility for the provision of rate-regulated service, despite the fact that there is this forgivability or waiver of potential.  It is a distinction that has been misunderstood or misapplied in the context of the PILs tax scheme.


So if it's not applicable to PILs payments why is it being relied on for the PILs departure tax to characterize that tax any differently?


MS. DUFF:  To say another way, the Board discussed potential options that the province had in the decision --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.


MS. DUFF:  -- and that is -- the fact that they even discussed that or took that into consideration, that is what you consider an error?


MR. NETTLETON:  That is also a point of our -- in our respectful submission, is a point of departure or an error, and we say it's an error from the perspective of traditional rate-making principles, that what the Board did here is they looked at -- and as my friend has quoted in his submissions, the direct quote from the decision is the Board looked at this cost from the province's perspective.


MS. DUFF:  In your --


MR. NETTLETON:  This -- sorry, and so when you look at something, a cost, from the province's perspective as opposed to the utility's perspective, therein lies the problem; that you are here, this Board is here, to look at what the justness and reasonableness of rates that can be charged by the rate-regulated utility.


So if you are looking at costs, you should be looking at this from the cost of the regulated utility's perspective, not the party who has financed those costs.  That's our concern.


MS. DUFF:  Yes, I think it is in paragraph 9 of the motion, this quote that has been quoted a number of times, "effectively a payment from itself to itself."  That quote from the decision in Hydro One's motion is that, even looking at the options the province had, decisions that it made, is outside of the scope that the Board should have considered.  Is that correct or not?


MR. NETTLETON:  So it's an important point.  As part of this Board's rate-making authority, it is indeed quite proper for the Board to examine the individual line items that are being applied for for the revenue requirement.  Income tax is one of them, obviously, and so it was quite appropriate for the Board to understand and learn about what the rationale was for the calculation of that income tax.


And that obviously embarked upon a discussion about the IPO transaction, and this PILs departure tax, which is part of the scheme that is associated with PILs, so it was quite reasonable for the Board to look at and gain an understanding of that.


But when it comes to the question of, okay, what costs are being caused and should be recovered in rates, what cost responsibility should ratepayers have, the question is, is that if you are looking behind at how Hydro One had financed a particular cost, and you are looking from their perspective at whether or not there are offsets, then two things come to mind.  One is you are no longer looking at whether or not the utility has borne the cost.  That happened when wire transfers were made to OEFC.


When you are suddenly looking behind and seeing in the perspective of the party financing those expenses, for rate-making purposes, there is an issue; but even if we're wrong on that, even if you think that there are extenuating circumstances, that in this particular case it's reasonable, the issue that we see with the statement is the fact that the record in this proceeding was one where this very issue of shareholder cost, did the shareholder incur a cost, was a topic that was discussed between Mr. Vels and Mr. Shepherd and where there was -- and this was on Day 11 of the hearing, and there was a very important undertaking that was given to Mr. Quesnelle at his request, and that was J11.2.


Now, J11.2 set out all provincial documents, and it set out what the province has said through publicly available documents about how they interpret the cost, how they have incurred a cost, how they have recorded on their public books the cost.


All of that was testimony in evidence before the Board, particularly the passage by Mr. Vels explaining from the province's perspective, even though Mr. Vels isn't -- you know, he is an employee of Hydro One, was the chief financial officer, but he was having to step into the shoes and say, you know, from the public, you know from the province's perspective, this is what the cost was to the province, as explained in publicly available documents.


Our concern is when we say there were errors made on the face of the record and evidence was ignored, that evidence was ignored.  Exhibit J11.2 in this proceeding and in the decision appears in one footnote.  It was a 500-page-document undertaking.  And in that one footnote it is referred to as authority for the Ontario Minimum Tax Authority.  It had nothing to do or was not even cited for the issues of how the province -- from the province's perspective there was a cost.


So if you follow this along and the thunder to the story is in those documents the very purpose that the province has, as now shown in legislation, is that the funding from this CCA bump is for a very specific purpose.  It's to fund the Trillium Trust.


The Trillium Trust is set up by legislation and by regulation.  And again, the proceeds from that deferred tax asset have been recorded on the public books in the amount of $2.4 billion, and that is all -- and is on the face of the record in this proceeding.


So that very much, if you go down the path of saying did the shareholder incur a cost, was the shareholder looking at this from the perspective of a cost incurred as a foregone revenue, as something that is, you know, less than costless or less than a payment from itself to itself, you have to follow the trail all the way to the end.  And that's what we say did not happen in this case.

MS. DUFF:  And in your argument-in-chief, I think it's at page 24, you are saying that the Board is taking into account a factor, and you are talking about this variable or waived potential for the departure tax.

It was the Board was interfering with the province's exercise of discretion.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, are you on paragraph --


MS. DUFF:  Page 24 of your argument-in-chief.  That's fair, I'm sorry.

But I am just trying to tie in what you've just told me.  Is that the point, the fact that the undertaking and the transcript during the hearing went to look beyond and into the provincial transactions?   That was where it was interfering with the province's exercise of discretion?

 If you want to rephrase it and tell me that's the relevance of that phrase to what you just said.

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Duff, I think they are separate points.  I would characterize the submissions that I've just made as really going to the issue of not taking into account evidence that was on the face of the record.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  And that evidence was there, and it's not reflected in the decision.  And it's important because -- I mean, look at the dollar signs involved with this issue.  I mean, we're talking billions of dollars.

So, this was evidence again that was not considered, the only time where this issue of shareholder cost was discussed in any significant detail.

This point, in my respectful submission, is different in that it is really talking about this nuance of why are you looking behind and second-guessing what the province may or may not be able to do.  Quite frankly, it's -- you know, it would be incorrect to say that the PILs departure tax was waived, or forgiven, or was variable because it wasn't.  That's the point.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for the distinction.  The second area identified in your motion was misinterpreting and misapplying applying RP-2004, as you called it.

It is Hydro One's position that RP-2004 is relevant to some degree?  Is that true?

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, I mean as a decision of this Board, it is obviously relevant; it has meaning.  But I think the issue that we see -- firstly, why is it relevant?  Let me explain why we think it's relevant.

It is relevant because that was the first time that this Board considered the PILs scheme.  And so it's relevant it in the context that firstly, the Board recognized PILs as an actual tax and recognized the recovery of that tax in rates.

It is relevant because there was also discussion about this concept of cost causation and cost responsibility in the context of what happens if there's costs that are incurred that aren't related to rate-regulated service, and there is a tax benefit from that.  So should that tax benefit flow to the ratepayer or not.  So it is important for that as well.

What we say is what was not part of the RP-2004 decision record were facts similar to what we are dealing with here, and facts matter.

MS. DUFF:  The decision mentioned that the situation was similar.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  It is Hydro One's position that they are quite distinct, though.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  I think there is a nuance there that the Board was relying on it a bit more in terms of informing their decision.  And your position is that in doing so, they misinterpreted and misapplied what the RP-2004 report said.

MR. CANNON:  Yes, if I could jump in for a minute?

So RP-2004 was dealing with the allocation of the tax benefit that came as a result of the bump in the cost basis of the assets of the utility to fair market value when the PILs regime was introduced.  So there was a change in legislation and the previously tax-exempt entities now became liable to PILs tax and as a result of that, they got a bump in the cost basis of their assets to fair value.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, I've read all of that.

MR. CANNON:  So it was dealing with the legislation change, and so it's informed what's appropriate to be done where there was been a costless bump where no cost is incurred.

So we think that where the Board erred in its application of RP-2004 is by seeing the seeing the PILs departure tax as something less than a full true cost.  So to see it as partly costless then allowed the Board to rely on RP-2004.

But with respect, if you properly review the facts and see the cost of the PILs as a true complete cost incurred by Hydro One and cost incurred by the province, then the principles that are applied to a costless bump are not applicable in this case.  And therefore, that's why RP-2004 is not applicable.

MS. DUFF:  Would if be correct to characterize the difference of positions, or different positions between Hydro One and what the decision says is that Hydro One says it's a cost, but that the decision -- it's like a payment for which you have to look at the source.  Is that the difference?  Is that a difference that we should consider?

MR. CANNON:  I'm not sure if I really followed that.  Can you say it --


MS. DUFF:  There is a cost and just from the perspective of Hydro One Networks, that's your submission?

MR. CANNON:  Yes, our position is, in the first instance, that you should be assessing the cost from the perspective of the utility.  But we also say that if you depart from that in this case, as Mr. Nettleton said --


MS. DUFF:  Maybe find a different word.

MR. CANNON:  You can still -- there is a still a cost being incurred by the shareholder.

MS. DUFF:  The RP-2004 decision had a generic tax section, and then it had a section specifically to fair market value bump, correct?

MR. CANNON:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  So there were generic issues examined, and then there was a separate section a fair market value bump.  And in that, though there was a discussion, though, about recapture; the word was in there.

MR. CANNON:  That's right, because in that decision, because it allocated the benefit of the fair market value bump to ratepayers, it recognized that there could be in the future an event where the depreciable assets would be sold or deemed to be sold at a gain and there would be recapture.  So it did deal with recapture.

MS. DUFF:  It is a sentence or two, though, correct?

MR. CANNON:  Yes, mm hmm.

MS. DUFF:  Hydro One, knowing that RP-2004 decision was there and seeing the word "recapture", were you concerned at all about this situation and the applicability of that sentence or two to the situation in this application?

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Duff, I think the reason why Hydro One gave little regard to RP-2004 really relates to the fact that there was no cost involved in the RP-2004 fact scenario.

As Mr. Cannon has pointed out, it was a change in legislation that derived or resulted in RP-2004 happening.

Here, in these facts, it was the departure tax, the PILs departure tax that distinguishes RP-2004 from applying because we do have a cost.

MS. DUFF:  That's fine.  Thank you.  I don't want to go too much further on that.  I'm still just trying to understand the sentences in your motion.

The third one is the stand-alone principle and the fair return standard, and I must say I read this over and over and over again to make sure.  So the stand-alone utility principle, there's one application where a utility is involved in other business activities.  They are providing billing services for, perhaps, a water utility.  They're doing other things other than just the regulated utility that this Board, Ontario Energy Board, regulates; is that correct?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, I mean, the stand-alone --


MS. DUFF:  More common.

MR. NETTLETON:  I'm pausing at the word "common."  I think it certainly has application in that context of -- as Staff has said, we see it typically where there is regulated and unregulated businesses, so it is certainly applied there, but it is applied in other contexts.

MS. DUFF:  And the context that -- and I was just using that as a contrast --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- and we have accounts set up in our uniform system of accounts for non-business activities, revenues, and expenses, but this context is the business activities regarding financing or business activities of the shareholder; is that -- is that what it's standing alone from?

MR. NETTLETON:  So I think what we have to first understand with the stand-alone principle is that there is really two concepts with the stand-alone principle.  One is cost causation and the other is user-paid principle, that rate-regulated service, the users of that rate-regulated service will only pay for the costs that they incur or cost responsibility.

So if you divorce yourself from the context of regulated versus non-regulated and just focus on regulated, how do we see cost causation, user-paid principles apply in the context strictly of just rate-regulated costs?  Well, for example, we've seen it on the face of this decision, of EB-2016-0160, and we see that, for example, where the decision, the panel came out and said we are not allowing transformation costs to be the responsibility of ratepayers, because those costs weren't caused by ratepayers.

And so we agree, and we haven't taken issue with the Board's findings as it relates to transformation costs.  For example, some members of their executive leadership team, those costs were considered, as you know, in the decision to not fall within the cost causation or cost responsibility.

So in the context of this case, the stand-alone principle is again one that relates to the payment of the PILs departure tax.  Who paid that cost?  Well, there were two choices.  It can either -- there was actually three choices, but it could either have been ratepayers, and that's an -- that was, presumably, an option, but -- and you could support that hypothetically on the basis that all other PILs payments have been paid by the ratepayer, so why differentiate from this payment?  Well, the answer is, look at the cause.  What caused the PILs departure tax?

MS. DUFF:  Just on that point --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- had the consumer --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- you came to the Board and said, "We've got this new transaction.  It's never happened before --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- I think consumers should pay" -- you chose -- you didn't choose that option.  So --


MR. NETTLETON:  No.

MS. DUFF:  -- this is all just hypothetical --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- but had they paid?

MR. NETTLETON:  Then they would have got the benefits.  That's the point.

MS. DUFF:  The benefits being?


MR. NETTLETON:  The benefit of the entitlement to the CCA bump, because everything follows from that.  But imagine this:  If Hydro One had come to this Board and said, "Our revenue requirement is 2.4 billion or $2.6 billion more than it otherwise was last year, but, fear not, because you get it all back with respect to the benefits -- over time, mind you.  It won't happen all at once.  It will happen over time, but you will get it back", I suspect that there would have been a hue and cry, and I suspect there would have been a lot of discussion around why are ratepayers seeking to pay for a tax that they didn't cause.


MS. DUFF:  So the stand-alone principle, we talked about that a bit, the fair return.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  So the fair return, your point in your motion is that the fair return standard does not compensate utilities for these additional risks that I guess have actually materialized associated with government ownership; is that correct?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  And the fair return standard, are we looking at the return on equity, the equity thickness?  What are we looking at?

MR. NETTLETON:  So traditionally the fair return standard has been applied when we talk about concepts like -- like capital structure and equity risk premiums and the types of risks that enter into that discussion, and as noted in the OPG decision that we've cited in our factum, that is where -- you know, this Board has heard submissions before where incremental risk associated with government ownership has been applied for as a basis for having a higher level of fair return, and I guess what the Board has said is, no, the policy of government is that we divorce ourselves from that dynamic of treating government ownership any differently than non-government ownership, because we want a level playing field.  We want a competitive marketplace that is not favouring or penalizing one competitor in the market from the nature of their ownership.

So how does that translate into the current set of circumstances?  It translates this way:  The province as a shareholder has injected and made an investment of 2.6 billion to pay for the PILs departure tax.

The return that that investor is seeking, as evidenced again in Exhibit J11.2, is that that shareholder has recorded on their public books and has referred to the deferred tax asset as what they're expecting back in order to fund or pay for the return of that investment.

And so by the Board finding that there was a materially less cost that ultimately reduces the amount of benefit that flows through to Hydro One and to its shareholder, that's the confiscation; it is that return that's been confiscated.

MS. DUFF:  That risk which was identified in the IPO, the risk that materialized, you are saying when your charge determinate rates were set for 2017/'18, whether it be the thick -- the return on equity that Hydro One was given was not established to compensate for the risk that the decision --


MR. NETTLETON:  Well, it --


MS. DUFF:  -- that was -- occurred because of the decision; is that what you are saying?

MR. NETTLETON:  Let's back up a little bit to risk factors, and again, part of the issue in this proceeding was that there was reference to the risk factors in the prospectus.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  But there was no investment banker or no party, no underwriter that was before the Board to talk about what the purpose of those risk factors were.

There is a clear difference, in my respectful submission, between what a risk factor found in a prospectus is for as compared to what the intentions of the province were, and again, the intentions of the province are best seen on the exhibit that I have referred to.

MS. DUFF:  The prospectus is a public document.  It is two and more people --


MR. NETTLETON:  Absolutely.  But the purpose of a risk factor in a prospectus is to make sure that the investing public is aware of the risks from the perspective of the issuing company, Hydro One Limited, not the province.

So if we are into a discussion about what the intentions or what the province's intentions were with respect to cost, look to their documents and look to see what they've recorded.  That's far more important than a statement of risk factors in a prospectus.

MS. DUFF:  In the motion, there is a paragraph 19, and I just want to spend a little bit more time talking about this one.  The context in which your -- I will just pull it up.  I just wanted to make sure I understand the context if you are going down a path with this idea.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, are we at page 19, or paragraph 19?

MS. DUFF:  Paragraph 19 on page 7, down at the bottom.  So based on the reasoning of the decision, that's how it starts.

I am going to paraphrase here, but it looks like you are comparing the situation of what happened with Hydro One to perhaps any other shareholder of a utility.  You are talking about the identity of the shareholder being that of the province.  But if the identity of the shareholder had been perhaps a municipality, you are comparing that, how this decision would apply to those circumstances.  Have I got that right?

MR. NETTLETON:  Can we -- I was looking at the factum and not the notice of motion.

MS. DUFF:  Well, sorry.

MR. NETTLETON:  That's my fault.  Sorry.

MS. DUFF:  It is paragraph 19, and it is the context that I want to make sure I've got right.

It looks like you are going down a path of -- you know, based on the reasoning of the decision, what this would imply had the shareholder been anybody else but the province, and I just want to make sure I've got that right.

I've suggested that maybe you're looking at it from the perspective of had the shareholder been a municipality or someone different.

MR. CANNON:  I think all we were saying is that if the shareholder who had provided the equity and fewer fusion for shares had been anybody other than the province, it could have been any third-party, then the -- you can infer from the decision that the cost would not have been treated as variable, or anything less than a full true cost.

So we take from the decision that it was because the province provided the equity infusion necessary to pay the PILs departure tax, that that allowed the Board to regard the cost as something less than a true full cost.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.  I understand what you're saying.

MR. CANNON:  Okay.  So we're saying that that's -- the determination of a cost should not turn on who provides the equity, or who provides the loan.  It doesn't matter whether the loan comes from a particular financial institution or it comes from a shareholder.

The issue is what is the cost that's incurred by the utility, and you shouldn't be assessing whether it's a cost based on the identity of the investor making the infusion of funds into the company.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  So because of how you've looked at the decision from that context, that's inconsistent with the fair return standard and the stand -- is it more the stand-alone principle?  You can group them together, but in my mind, I'm really quite interested in distinguishing the two.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think they need to be distinguished and with respect to the fair return standard or principle, again we harken back to the fact that there was only one class of shares.  So the province here hasn't got a special class of shares that you say, well, because there's pent-up value in those shares that you haven't yet sold but you could, and when you do, you are going to get that value back, that's not what's on the face of the record.

There is but one class of shares, and so the fair return standard is now applied to all of the shareholders, yet that one shareholder that is effected here, the province, is being given something less because of this decision.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for that.

The last section, the fourth principle -- we call them four principle errors.  But the fourth principle is the error in applying tax concepts.

I appreciate what I'm doing here.  I'm looking at each one of these almost independently and exogenously and you keep bringing me back to, well, but one has to do with two has to do with three.  But I think it's important, because you've listed four, that we each understand the merits of each, even though the arguments could be intertwined.

But with this particular part of your motion, you are saying that the decision improperly characterized this deemed and actual.  Do you want to turn the page?  It's on page 8 of your motion.  You've got it in front of you.

What I am trying to understand here is to what part of the decision does this error apply?  Is this as soon as the Board decided that consumers should get some of the benefit, or is this applying to the tax concepts that went with option 2?  Remember they had the two proportional allocation calculations that the decision went through.

This error that you are talking about here, is this applying to the sharing allocation calculations in particular?

MR. CANNON:  I think the decision is difficult to read on this point, with respect, because what the Income Tax Act provides is that when an entity becomes subject to the tax regime, there is a deemed disposition of all of its assets.

MS. DUFF:  Uh-hmm.

MR. CANNON:  A deemed disposition and reacquisition  of all of its assets at fair market value.  So that's across the board a hundred percent, and that gives rise to an increase in the cost basis of all of its assets.

MS. DUFF:  That's what I was thinking, because we are talking about zero percent, a hundred percent, it eliminates the sharing concept in your motion, the sharing of the benefits that the decision goes through with option 1 and 2.  Is that what you're addressing here?

MR. CANNON:  Partly, but I would say that the reason for the allocation -- the appropriate allocation of a hundred percent of the tax savings associated with the bump to Hydro One is because of the cost that was incurred.

You couldn't have obtained that -- having regard to the legislation that was in place at the time, the Electricity Act and the Income Tax Act, there was no way that Hydro One could leave the Electricity Act system without paying that tax based on the decisions that the province made, and it got that increase in the fair market value of its assets.

If there had been a costless bump, then that would be a different story; then based on RP-2004, that hundred percent bump in assets that occurred at the time of the introduction of PILs regime, 100 percent of the benefits went to the ratepayers because it was costless.

So it really does come back to the error that we say exists in the determination that the cost of the PILs was something other than the exact amount that was paid by Hydro One.

MS. DUFF:  I understand your point.

MR. CANNON:  And there is a discussion in the decision about shares being deemed to be sold and reacquired; that's not at all the case.  It is just simply the assets are deemed to be disposed of and reacquired.  There is no deemed disposition at the shareholder level of the shares of the utility.

MS. DUFF:  So again, this error as you've identified isn't specific just to this sharing concept.  It is to the very basis of the decision, I take it?

Again, I was trying to try to hone in on does this error relate to this logic or this finding and I was -- thank you.  Those are all my questions.

MS. RUMINA:  Thank you.  Could you help me understand why the quantum of the departure tax is different from the future tax asset amount?  Are they not calculated on the same basis?

MR. CANNON:  So that difference arises because the departure tax is a tax on recapture and a tax on capital gain.  And the tax on capital gain is one-half of the rate that is the tax rate that applies to recapture.

But then you end up with an increase in the cost of your assets to a fair value amount, and then you can claim depreciation against that stepped-up basis, so to the extent of the difference between the bump in value to the initial cost of the assets, the recapture amount, to the extent that the gain is greater than that and you have a gain -- you've paid tax effectively at 12 and a half percent on that gain, but then you will be able to claim deductions on that amount at about 26 percent, and so that accounts for why the PILs recovery -- or, sorry, the tax recovery, the income -- provincial and federal income tax recovery is greater than the PILs departure tax, but of course the PILs departure tax is paid in one year, 2015, and then the tax recovery occurs over many, many, many years through capital cost allowance claims in computing income.

MS. VELSHIN:  Thank you.  And did RP-2004 make a distinction on how recapture or gain should be treated?  Like, I read all about recapture, but I didn't read much on gain.  And help me understand that.

MR. CANNON:  It didn't deal -- my recollection is it doesn't deal with gain.  It was really dealing with recapture --


MS. VELSHIN:  Right.

MR. CANNON:  -- because I think it was recognizing that as a result of taking the utility into the PILs regime it was going to have an increase in its asset cost to fair market value and then it would be able to depreciate that over time, so it -- its focus would have been on the recapture of that deduction that was being taken under the PILs regime.

MS. VELSHIN:  So similarly, I know in your earlier response you said that you didn't believe RP-2004 was applicable in this case because this was not a costless transaction.  I didn't read anywhere in that report that it only applied to costless transactions; it actually very much looks at, in ae future sale, and with a sale, presumably, there are costs, so I don't know why you would have felt that it only applied if it was a costless transaction.

MR. NETTLETON:  Maybe I'll start and Mr. Cannon can finish, but the main issue in RP-2004 was the ramification of the change in statutory legislation, which is to say that that action resulted in a restatement of the valuation of assets for purposes of tax.  And that resulted in a very significant tax deduction, and the question was:  Who should get the benefit of that?

And when we read this decision, and there was debates about who should be entitled to that benefit.  Should it be ratepayers, should it be shareholders?  Should it be some combination of the two?  But the decision in that case came to the conclusion that because the Minister's decision, this change in legislation, happened without a cost, there was no -- there was effectively a windfall and that that benefit should accrue to the ratepayer.

So when we say -- comparing that to our situation we say, well, it's distinguishable on its facts, particularly as it relates to the issue of whether there was a cost, because that is evidenced by the PILs departure tax.

MS. VELSHIN:  So that part I understand.  My question is why you would feel that at this point in time that report is not applicable, because it does say if at a future point there is a sale, then come back to the Board and see how it should be handled.  It doesn't say only if it's a costless.  It says if there is a sale.

MR. CANNON:  It also says, if I could add, it says in the conclusions on page 56 of RP-2004:

"However, the shareholder has not incurred any cost related to the change in value for tax purposes so the benefits follows cost principle is not applicable."

So I take from that there is a recognition by the Board, even in RP-2004, that when a cost has been incurred that is related to the change in values for tax purposes, the benefits follows cost principle applies, and hence we come back to what is the cost that was incurred.

MS. VELSHIN:  Fair enough.  I mean, that part I get, but that doesn't mean that RP-2004 is not applicable if there are costs involved, because further down in that same conclusion it just says if at some point a related tax liability arises from a sale then the distributor will be able to apply to the Board.

MR. CANNON:  Yes, I agree --


MS. VELSHIN:  So it actually envisaged exactly a scenario like this, correct?

MR. CANNON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  But with respect, I don't think that we can say that, yes, we'll look at that in the future, but the applicability of RP-2004 is going to depend on the facts and circumstances that arise at that time.

MS. VELSHIN:  I agree, I agree, yes.  It wasn't a question of, was it applied right?  It was, was it applicable?  And I think it envisaged a scenario like this.

We talked a little bit earlier about the payment from itself to itself by the province.  What are your comments or thoughts on Schools' submission, page 11 on this transcript, of 2015 estimate committee hearings between MPPs and the deputy minister, and where the hearing panel concluded -- I mean, it's one of their findings -- that this was some evidence that it was really money that just went around; what are your thoughts on that?

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Ms. Velshi, we have a concern, and the concern really does relate to the handout that I've provided to you.  And the challenge here is that this quotation appeared in final argument, not of Schools, but of BOMA --


MS. VELSHI:  Right.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- when that argument was filed, and if you go back to the final argument you will notice two things.  One is that BOMA has said in that submission that it's, in fact, a series of extracts from the committee transcripts, and what was not clear because the pages that they have attached to that argument are, in fact, not the pages that this series of exchanges pertain to.

There was, in fact, a period of about 25 or 30 days' difference in terms of when one series of exchanges happened and when another series of exchanges have happened.  And we've tried to articulate that or show that in the documents that are part of this handout.

So there is a concern with, in terms of the genesis of this document being from BOMA's argument and just ensuring that -- and we don't know whether -- and how much reliance was placed on this by the panel.  But what we do know is what the panel clearly relied on was this view that it was a payment from itself to itself.

Again, this goes back to my concern about, you have to follow it through to the end.  And that really is, again, looking at the evidence that was on the record in J11.2 and comparing and contrasting what is said here in the context of a committee, an estimate's committee, versus the public documents that the province has filed that relate specifically to the application of the Trillium Trust, the intention of the province with respect to the establishment of the Trillium Trust, and how the province intended to fund the Trillium Trust through the recovery of the deferred tax benefit.

And to be clear, its proportionate share of the deferred tax benefit, which was $2.4 billion of the 2.6 billion that Hydro One had recorded on its books.  So there is a footnoting issue, and unfortunately that problem seems to have propagated its way into the submissions of SEC.  And I'm not, at all, suggesting that there was some untoward event here; it was just unfortunate how it has come out.

But the other point that I would make, though, about this statement is, is the fact that this did come in in argument.  Mr. Vels appeared on Day 11.  He was, in fact, requested to return to the panel and appear and have the exchanges about this issue of understanding, getting a better understanding of this cost issue, and from which perspective should we be looking at this cost.  And the exchange that Mr. Vels had with Mr. Shepherd demonstrates that that in fact happened.

One would have thought that if this passage existed, that it would have been brought forward and addressed by the witness.  It wasn't.  It is of concern then of the merits or the weight that can be assessed to this, and again, because the decision has made this statement and appears to be the reliance without any regard given to the Trillium Trust, that's of concern.

And what's even more concerning is that when you look at the actual estimates committee transcripts, you will see that when this discussion is taking place there, is always discussion about the Trillium Trust.

So compartmentalizing and focusing on just one aspect of the transaction going to the OEFC and the province injecting capital does not end the discussion.  The challenge is that you are now into the perspective of the province, but you don't have witnesses from the province.  You have the chief CFO of Hydro One Limited and you are engaging in a course of trying to understand what was in the minds of the province.  But you didn't have that evidence.  The best evidence that you had was documentation from the province, reports from the province that were submitted.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Nettleton, can I interrupt for a second?  I think you said a minute ago in this discussion about this excerpt that if it existed.  Were you meaning if it was -- I'm not sure what you meant by that.

I'm not suggesting that that exchange didn't actually happen, but that there was more to it.  I just -- it was one of those ones -- popped up and I thought, hmm.

MR. NETTLETON:  If I could take you to the handout and just walk you through this very quickly.

So behind tab 1 is the original BOMA argument that was filed, and you will see the passage in question is quoted there.  And on the margin, we have added where the particular passage took place and you will see that there is no indication of the passage happening over the course of several -- or different days of transcript, or that the impression left by this was that it was all one exchange.  That didn't happen.

My point, Ms. Spoel, is that when you actually go to the transcript, the actual transcript which we have put behind tabs 3 and tabs 4, you will see that in the actual exchanges that took place, Mr. Vels' comments and remarks about the shareholder cost having to do with the Trillium Trust and establishing the Trillium Trust, is also discussed.

So it's not just what is there; it's what's not there.  And it is important that if this Board or the decision panel was making a decision based upon this passage for the purpose of suggesting that this is why the payment was to itself from itself, that that just isn't consistent with the evidence that was before the panel.

MS. VELSHI:  And with this full transcript, is this consistent with that report, J11.2, on how the province --


MR. NETTLETON:  I think I can get to J11.2.  I was going to get there in my reply, but I am happy to get there if you like.

MS. VELSHI:  It can wait.  It can wait.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MS. VELSHI:  In your submissions, you have in great detail expressed all the concerns that you have with one of the methodologies submitted by the Board, the actual sales -- what we call the shareholder one, the second one, option 2.

MR. NETTLETON:  Option 2.

MS. VELSHI:  But you don't take about the recapture methodology, option 1.  Do you have any concerns with that one, particularly as it applies to the principles and concerns raised on that?

MR. CANNON:  So the recapture methodology is only dealing with the issue are increase in the value of the assets to their original cost.  So it is dealing with the original cost of the assets and the fact that depreciation or CCA claims were made to reduce the PILs payments during the time that Hydro One was subject to the PILs regime.

But it's only dealing with half a loaf; it is not dealing with the second component of the gain that is realized on the deemed disposition.  So the recapture methodology deals with the recapture amount, but it doesn't deal with the capital gain amount.  And as we've said, that ties back to if this had been a -- if this was a costless bump, then based on RP-2004, because the benefit of the initial bump had gone to ratepayers, the Board indicated that it would seem reasonable that the recapture amount bump would go to the utility.

So that's dealing with a costless scenario.  But here where a cost has been incurred, looking at the recapture formula isn't addressing and giving Hydro One the appropriate return of the cost that its incurred, which is the PILs departure tax on both the recapture and the capital gain.

MS. VELSHI:  My last question was staff, in their submission, have made a statement that every data point used by the Board is something that was on record.

So, agreeing that there may have been misrepresentations or not taking into consideration some facts, do you agree with that statement that every data point used was one that was on record?

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Velshi, I don't know how we can answer that in light of our submissions here today.  We can't tell what the Board was -- what was in the panel's mind for reliance on this belief that it was a payment to itself by itself.

Was it this passage?  We don't know.  Was every data point considered?  It is difficult to discern.

I don't -- I think that the point, if I could, if I understand Staff's submissions, is that the -- and the point that we have great concern with is the belief that as long as the decision is reasonable, it shouldn't be overturned.  And we submit that's the wrong threshold for this review panel.

The rules -- this Board's rules make it clear that the threshold is correctness.

If there is an error, if there is an error of -- a material error, and we submit there have been material errors, then it's not appropriate for you to look at the spirit of the decision.  It is not appropriate to look at the reasonableness of the outcome.  It's whether the decision is correct or not.  And if it's incorrect, it should be fixed.

MS. VELSHI:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  We're going to take a morning break now and return at, let's say, 11:15.  And we probably have no more questions, Mr. Nettleton, but we will discuss that during the break and assuming we don't, we will come back and if we have any questions for you, Mr. Stevenson, you'll be up next.  I'm not sure that we do.  We'll determine that during the break.
--- Recess taken at 10:57 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Stephenson, you'll be happy to know that we have no -- the Panel has no questions to the Power Workers' Union.  Thank you for your written argument.  It was helpful.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Deeply disappointed.

[Laughter]

MS. SPOEL:  Well, you can take it as a compliment that we understood what you had to say.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I can't say it any better.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  I think there are a few questions for Board Staff.  We're getting ourselves organized here.

MS. VELSHI:  I do have one question for Board Staff.  In your submission on page 8 at the bottom, where you state:
"If the reviewing panel is of the opinion that the parties to this proceeding should have been afforded the opportunity to assess and comment on the analysis used..."

Et cetera.  So on what basis are you making this recommendation if you do not believe that there was any error made by the panel?

MS. LEA:  I think that this is perhaps a classic example of arguing in the alternative.  Although we argue that there was no error in the decision, it is also possible that the -- that this Panel that is looking at this decision might find there was an error, and it's also possible that, as I think more than one party has acknowledged, the actual calculation portion was not discussed and debated on the record, with some exception.  I think SEC addressed some options for the Panel, and so we looked at the calculation portion to assess and comment on the analysis used to determine the final PILs proxy, so that we're trying to look at the calculation that went into recapture, although that wasn't the one that ended up being used, and the actual FMV sales second option calculation.

So it is certainly open to this Panel to do one of three things, as I'm sure you are aware:  Deny the motion; find that there was an error and vary the decision, or find that there was an error and send it back to the OEB for rehearing; or, indeed, to reopen the record and rehear it yourselves.

So if you find then that there was an error in the decision, it's Staff's submission that the best remedy is not to vary the decision, but to send it, to either rehear it yourselves, reopen the record, or to send it back to the original panel for reconsideration.

So it was an attempt to address remedy as much as anything else.

MS. VELSHI:  Thank you.

And just a point of clarification.  The second methodology, the actual FMV sales one.

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MS. VELSHI:  Was that discussed?  I mean, you did say that the actual calculations and numbers weren't, but was the model itself and the thinking behind it discussed during the hearing?

MS. LEA:  I'm at a bit of a disadvantage because I wasn't involved in that part of the hearing.  It was certainly not included in Staff's argument.  Just one moment.

I believe that certainly the -- certainly Staff would argue that the logic of using that methodology was something that was apparent from the record and from the EB-2004-0188 report of the Board, so the logic behind it, the idea that there was a costless portion to the fair market value bump, those sorts of things, those were certainly something that was on the record.

It is not -- all the numbers -- and when you asked Mr. Nettleton about the data points, I thought about that a bit.  All the numbers that were used in the calculation were certainly on the record.  I believe that SEC addressed this argument in part in its submission on the record, but perhaps Mr. Shepherd is the best person to answer that question.

Staff did not -- and I do not believe it was discussed with the witnesses as part of the evidence in the hearing.

MS. VELSHI:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I didn't realize I was up.  To the best of my knowledge, the concept that was built into the actual fair market value sales and payments methodology was not discussed in the hearing, either directly or indirectly.

I agree with Ms. Lea that you could formulate it from the evidence before the Board and from the precedents, but there was no discussion of it at all, that I saw.

MS. VELSHI:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  I think those are all our questions for Board Staff.  Thank you very much, Ms. Lea.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Now, in terms of the intervenors, I know we have some questions for Schools.  We'll, we'll start -- why don't we start with Schools and see where we go.  Do you want to start?

MS. DUFF:  Sure.  I have one question.  It is in your submission, pages 5 and 6, and it is this concept of characterization of the issue and reframing of the issue.  I just want to make sure I understand SEC's submission in that regard.

The reference to RP-2004 that you provide on page 6, that's on page 44 of that report.  And on page -- or page 46 of that report, sorry.  And on page 46 they were general principles; is that true?  That when the Board said rates must be just and reasonable and any substantial variation between taxes determined for regulatory purposes and actual taxes paid must be justifiable, you drew that from a section of RP-2004 that was general concepts; is that correct?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  And so I'm trying to reconcile -- let's just continue then on with your submission.  You then described Hydro One's proposal in that proceeding as an exception to the normal rule, because the normal rule is actual taxes paid equals what was been recovered in rates; have I got that right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, although the normal rule is not exactly actual taxes paid.  The Board has many times recognized variations between actual taxes forecast and accounting taxes, if you like, but -- so for example, charitable donations, which were referred in RP-2004-0188 are the most common example.

But generally speaking it is true that the Board long ago, in the gas cases, decided that we are not going to use accounting taxes, we are going to use actual taxes as the recoverable component of taxes.

MS. DUFF:  So the proposal that Hydro One presented to the Board in the case was an exception.  They were
asking --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- for an exception that they thought was justifiable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.

MS. DUFF:  And SEC's submission in that regard is that -- well, actually, this section you don't really come to a conclusion, you just say that the Board has to keep in mind that the reality of following Hydro One's proposal is that there will be this discrepancy --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  The Board -- Hydro One is asking the Board to treat this as a special case, that it's different from all other taxes and is also different from the only other fair market value bump that you've ever dealt with, and they're saying, don't use any of those precedents; this is a special case because of this, that, and the other thing.  And that's fine, there is nothing wrong with making that argument, but to characterize it -- the Board in the decision -- as taking something away from them that they were prima facie entitled to is not correct, it's the opposite.

MS. DUFF:  In SEC's submission they should have come to the Board for an exception?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I think they did, and the Board said, no, we're going to give you part of the exception, but not all of it.  We recognize that your situation is different than all the precedents we have, and we've identified what that difference is, and it requires that the recapture component be delivered to you -- and let's leave the fair market value sales and payments aside for now.  In fairness, the ratepayer shouldn't get that benefit twice; we agree with you on that.  We'll give you that; we're not going to give you the whole thing.  You haven't made your case for the full exception.

MS. DUFF:  And those recapture comments in your submission are really in regard to option one that the Board had in its original decision?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  That's correct?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  The recapture in the decision and the recapture referred to in RP-2004-0188 are quite different things.

The concern in RP-2004-0188 was that after the fair market bump, the recapture would then be higher because of the higher fair market value, and the utility would have to pay that higher recapture.  But the ratepayers would never have borne the cost in the first place.

So the Board recognized that and said, no, in the future if that happens, we have to deal with that.  That's not the case here.  That's not what we're dealing with here.  That could arise in this case, too, and then you'd have to apply the same RP-2004 principle.  But that's a future thing.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for clarifying that.  That's fair.  That's my only question, thank you.

MS. VELSHI:  Let me follow up on that.  Where you say it's not the case here, in this case, as we've heard from Hydro One, the same thing happened.  There was a recapture element, but there is also a gain element.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, that's not true.

MS. VELSHI:  Tell me how it's different then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in this case, this was a taxable company that had certain consequences of exiting the PILs system, and that included recapture and capital gains.

In the previous case, it was not a taxable entity.
It was a department of a municipality, or a provincial Crown corporation, and therefore there was no tax regime to exit; they were only entering.

So the two situations are identical with respect to the fair market value bump component.  That is you enter a new tax system, the tax system says let's value everything at current value.  And that that happened in the PILs situation in RP-2004, and is happening now under the ITA for Hydro One. That is exactly the same.

The other side of it, the departure tax, that was not relevant back then because there was no tax situation; they were non-taxable entities.

It would be like a charity ceasing to be qualified as a charity under the federal Income Tax Act.  It would have to -- 149-10, the deemed -- the fair market value bump would apply to the charity if it ceased to qualify, and it would have to value its assets and going forward, that's how it would calculate its taxable income.  But it would not have any prior tax because it was non-taxable beforehand.

MS. VELSHI:  So in this case then, RP-2004, agree for the fair market value bump it will give you guidance on how that should be handled, the recapture part got to the rate -- that the ratepayers.

What about the departure tax then?  That RP-2004 really would give little guidance on how that should be allocated between shareholder and ratepayer, because it was never at play in that earlier scenario?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess I'll say two things about that.  Hydro One takes the view that the departure tax and the fair market value bump are connected.  They're not; as a matter of law, they are not.

So if -- and their argument appears to be, well, if we paid the departure tax, then we have to get the been fit that flows from it.  Well, the benefit doesn't flow from the departure tax, so that argument simply doesn't fly.

However, the -- now I've lost my train of thought.  Can you give me the question again?

MS. VELSHI:  My --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I still have jet lag, by the way.  I apologize.

MS. VELSHI:  So my question was how applicable is RP-2004 when it comes to the departure tax issue, given that in the earlier scenario, there was no departure tax to worry about, because it hadn't been taxed, right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if the departure tax was the cause of the fair market value bump, then you could argue that it should be treated differently.  But if it isn't, then you would just have two situations that are identical fair market bumps.  The wording is almost identical of the two statutes.

So in both cases, it is about entering a system, and entering a system at fair value.

MS. VELSHI:  So in the earlier scenario, and in the early 2000, there was the hundred percent allocation to the ratepayer because there hadn't been a cost.  In this one, in this recapture, the first option methodology, it's only the recapture portion that would go to the ratepayer of the tax savings from the fair market value bump, not the gain portion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is actually the opposite.

MS. VELSHI:  I'm sorry, yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The recapture portion goes to the shareholder, because the ratepayers have already got that benefit through past deductions.  They've received accelerated depreciation.

MS. VELSHI:  Right, and I guess the argument -- is there a argument that they also benefited from the gain portion -- or have they?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, the gain portion is completely a windfall to somebody.

MS. VELSHI:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what the Board tried to do in the decision is say for that component, let's realize that some people paid real cash for their shares and to the extent that that's more than the recapture amount, let's give them -- those shareholders that benefit.  I don't happen to agree with that, but that's what the Board said for the gain portion.

MS. VELSHI:  Right, but in the recapture methodology scenario, there was no allocation of the gain portion.  It was -- to the rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it's just a windfall.

MS. VELSHI:  A windfall to the ratepayer.  Thank you.

In your submission on page 3, you -- on the second methodology of actual FMA sales and payment threshold, you say it is not technically sound and so on.

Can you elaborate on that?  Why do you believe it is not technically -- even thought conceptually justifiable, key principles that you believe it doesn't align with?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was hoping not to have to, because it is a little technical.  But I will.

So the basic concept of the actual fair market value sales and payments and methodology is not wrong.

What the Board is saying is that some people paid real money and a premium on their share price for shares.  And so for those people to take away a tax benefit associated with the bump in value of the assets is unfair.  So for that portion, allocate that to them.  Conceptually, that's fine.  It still assumes that there is a connection between what they paid for their shares and the tax benefit, which is not technically true.  But you can understand the concept at least.  It is trying to be fair to the people who paid real money for their shares.

The Board then goes on to say now we also have to allocate something for the shares held by the province because they have a cost, too.  But then the Board had already said they didn't really have a cost.

So I happen to agree with my friend, Mr. Nettleton, on this, that that particular methodology is not correct.  It is not conceptually sound.  But since it can only help him, I'm not sure why he would object to it if the Board is going to go in that direction; it can't hurt him.  So this is why I didn't spend a lot of time on it.

There is a solid conceptual reason for saying that those who paid real value for their shares should get the tax benefits associated with that increase in value.  It is -- you could argue both sides is what I'm saying.

The next step of saying there should be an additional amount added is not correct.  I think it is fairly obvious.  Is that helpful, or is that...

MS. VELSHI:  It is very helpful, because if I understood it correctly you said the Board had made a finding that the province really didn't pay a tax, and then why are you then allocating a part of that to the shareholder; is that what you are saying?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.

MS. VELSHI:  Right.  Okay.  Thank you.

And I wanted to get your thoughts on, actually, what the PWU submitted around the fair returns standard that Hydro One was treated unfairly because it's treat -- because it is owned by the province, and that had it been a municipal utility in a very similar situation where the injection of equity is by the shareholder, the municipality, but the payment to taxes is to the province, would this have been handled differently, and is Hydro One getting penalized or treated differently because the province is both its shareholder and the taxing authority?  What are your thoughts on that argument?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The problem is not that the Board treated the province unfairly or contrary to the normal principles.  The problem is that the province was both the taxing authority and the owner of the utility.  You couldn't get around that.  There is nothing you can do about that.  Anything they get in taxes is going to cost them an exactly identical amount.  There is nothing that can be done about that, because they are selling the company, right, or they are selling part of the company, and so if they get 2.6 billion in taxes, their value is going to go down.

And so what could the Board do about that?  It is just a reality you can't avoid.  So what we said in our argument is, there are a couple of ways that the Board -- that the province could have dealt with this.  There are four ways, actually, and two of them involve getting rid of the tax and two of them involve reducing the share value.

They chose one of the methods that gets rid of the tax.  And the Board recognized that quite fairly; it is exactly what happened.

I just -- if I could assist, I'm not going to get a chance to sur-reply with my friend.  So my friend has filed new material, and this is Exhibit 1, and I am looking at tab 3, and in this -- my friend is quite correct that the excerpts that we quoted in our submissions and that we quoted -- we copied directly from BOMA, foolishly, are not a correct sequence, but all those things were said, and if you put them back in context they still mean the same thing, and -- but I'm kicking myself for not having gone back to the original source and simply copying, but not because the quote ended up being wrong.  I'm kicking myself because if you take a look at tab 3 -- I'm at page E419 -- in fact the better quote is from the Minister, where the Minister of Energy says -- I'm quoting from the top of the right-hand column:
"Hydro One as an LDC is required to pay the tax.  We are paying a tax to ourselves.  Our entity is paying 2.6 billion to ourselves, the treasury.  It is going from one bank account that we have to another one and we are putting it back in, so it's revenue-neutral."

And the reason why that's important is because everybody understood at government, it wasn't -- what they were trying to do is make sure that the share value was higher, and they were willing to give up the tax to do it.  If they got the tax without giving the money back to the company, the share value would have been lower.

They could have exempted the company, but if they exempted the company then everybody else would want an exemption if they were exiting the system.  They couldn't do that.  So they only had one choice:  Circulate the money around so that it looked like the tax was being paid but it wasn't, in fact, being paid.  That's the only choice they had.

So did the Board treat the province unfairly by recognizing this?  No.  The province did this intentionally, and for good reason.  It isn't like they did something wrong.  They wanted to make sure the share value was high, and they did what they had to do to get there, which is basically get rid of the tax.  It was the only choice they had, and that's exactly what the Board said in the decision.

MS. VELSHI:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  I don't think I have any other questions.  I think Ms. Velshi asked the questions that I was going to ask.  Let me just double-check.

I think that's fine.  Thank you.  Okay.  Do you have questions for anybody else?  No?  I think those are all the Panel's questions.

Sorry, Ms. Blanchard, you've come all the way from Ottawa and we haven't asked you any questions.

[Laughing]

Again, you can take that as a compliment that we were able to understand your written submission without having to question you on it.

We will take an early break, as we indicated, we'll take a break now for lunch so that Hydro One has a chance to prepare its reply argument, given the events of this morning.

So we will reconvene at one o'clock if that's -- is that enough time, Mr. Nettleton?

MR. NETTLETON:  Absolutely.

MS. SPOEL: Great.  We will see everybody back at one o'clock.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 11:49 a.m.
--- On resuming at 1:02 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, Mr. Nettleton, we're in your hands.
Reply Submissions by Mr. Nettleton:


MR. NETTLETON:  Green light is on, all systems are go.

You will be happy to know, Madam Chair and the Panel, that my preparations for today's process was one where we had put together a formal reply submission.  We just didn't know when it was going to come out, whether it was going to come out in advance or whether it was going to come out through questions, or whether it was going to come out at the end, as it is now.

The good news is that over the course of the lunch hour, we have been able to strike out a great deal of that because much of it has come through the good question and answer opportunity that we've had.

I say that almost as a risk factor disclosure, to say if my flow of my presentation seems off, it's simply because I'm ad libbing and pieces have fallen away as compared to what they were.

MS. SPOEL:  No complaints from here.

MR. NETTLETON:  Let me give you a roadmap, if I could, of my submissions.  First, we are here -- Hydro One is here because there are errors in decision EB-2016-0160.  The errors concern the fact that evidence was ignored, factual finding were made in the absence of evidence and as a result of those errors the, Board has misapplied certain rate-making principles.

This is not a case about re-argument.  There are three issues that we would like to discuss with you today.  The first is the allocation of future tax deductions from the IPO transaction, and the second is the matter of the allowance for funds used during construction regarding the Niagara reinforcement project, and the third is matters concerning the ombudsman costs.

Obviously, the issue that has consumed the brunt of the time today is the tax issue, and that's what I will be spending most of my time today on in the submission.

So for that purpose, let me give a further roadmap of what I would like to speak to.

First, let me provide a bit of an introduction.  The second, I'd like to discuss the common issue that parties have made submissions and argument about regarding the nature of the cost at hand, the PILs departure tax.  And the third item is in regards to the cost causation issue that has been raised by SEC, and the fourth matter then is points of specific reply that individual intervenors and Staff have made.  Then I'll turn my remarks to OEFC and the ombudsman cost.

The first common issue that I have is entitled in my notes as "true cost."  And the true question here is what the true characterization of the PILs departure tax.

There are three positions before you.  Hydro One's position is that a true cost has been paid, the full amount of $2,271,000,000.  That amount could only be funded and was funded through raising more than $2 billion in new capital.  The decision of the Board is that this cost was a variable cost which permitted the OEB to adapt a value materially less than the full $2.271 billion.

And SEC's position, as stated in section 2.4, is that it's not a cost that was actually paid in substance by Hydro One.  Let's turn in reply to SEC's remarks and, in particular, why they say the cost was not real and why we say that's wrong.

Again we return to the fundamental reliance that both SEC and BOMA have relied on at page 99 of the decision.  That is with regards to the statement from the province's perspective, not the perspective of the rate-regulated utility.

And what both BOMA and SEC have urged is that this Panel should accept this finding as a basis to analyze rate treatment of costs; that is to say, not from the utility's perspective, but from the perspective of the province as shareholder.

Consider why that is reasonable.  Why would it be reasonable to look behind a utility's parent corporation and take into account cost consequences to the government to determine whether costs should be recoverable from ratepayers?

In this light, Mr. Shepherd today had the opportunity to provide remarks in reply to the issue that was raised at the outset regarding the committee's passage that was included in both the BOMA argument and the SEC argument.

It struck me that what my friend's remarks were intended was for the purpose of again articulating that this issue of the cost wasn't real, that it was just simply a flow-through and was circular, was something that was discussed throughout the transcript.  The speculation then was made about what the province's behaviour and motivations were, the speculation, based on a committee statement by my friend, Mr. Shepherd, about the intention of passages of the Minister.

Quite frankly, Madam Chair, you need more.  You deserve more.  To be making decisions upon speculation about a one-page document in a committee that was not placed before this Board in evidence, or in any way put any of the witnesses before concluding that from the province's perspective, the cost was not real, or a payment from itself to itself.

If we go down the path that Mr. Shepherd is suggesting of doing that, we can also point to again other references where the Minister has referred to the Trillium Trust in the same discussion of this transaction, and we will get there in a moment.

But if we are going to look at the perspective of the province for rate-making purposes, we really have to first address our minds to why that is a reasonable approach, as opposed to looking at just the utility and the characterization of costs that the utility incurs for rate-making purposes.

The evidence before the original panel regarding payment of the PILs departure tax was a matter that was discussed.  It was discussed at volume 1, page 31 of the transcript, where Ms. Chung indicated that the cost to the province and the payment that had been made was effectively -- and I'm just looking for the specific quote -- the payment of this amount was made to the Ontario Electricity Finance Corporation.  And importantly, when payments are made to the OEFC, they are directed to a specific purpose; namely, the retirement of provincial long-term debt.

What Ms. Chung then went on to say was that prior to the transaction when Hydro One was under the PILs regime, PILs payments were made to the OEFC.  Subsequent to the IPO, Hydro One is no longer subject to PILs of corporate income tax, so the departure tax may be viewed as a lump sum of the future PILs, the future PILs, that the OEFC would have received if the IPO did not occur.  That was a real cost to the province.  You're forgoing a future -- a future revenue stream.

There was further evidence before the Board.  And I commend you to look at Volume 11, starting at page 24 of the transcript.  And this is the exchange that I referred to earlier between Mr. Vels and Mr. Shepherd regarding shareholder cost.

Now, this exchange ultimately resulted in Mr. Vels' agreeing to undertake to provide three documents to Mr. Quesnelle, the Chair of the Panel, through Exhibit J11.2.

And I'd like to just refer you to some of those passages, because the documents themselves are quite large.  The document itself -- the undertaking I think comprised over 500 pages of materials.

So what I'd like to do is just refer you to page -- Adobe page 125 of that exhibit.  And it was Minister Souza's Job for Today and Tomorrow:  The 2016 Ontario Budget.  That was the first document that was -- comprised that undertaking.  And at page 88 what the Province said in their budget document was this.  They said:
"By broadening the ownership of Hydro One, the province will recognize a net gain from the IPO and related share sales, and a further fiscal benefit due to a Hydro One deferred tax benefit impact on its net income."

The deferred tax benefit is what we're talking about here.  That's the bump in the CCA.  At page 89 of the same document the government went on to say:

"The government is moving forward with proposed regulations under the Act to prescribe net revenue gains from Hydro One to IPO, as well as the non-cash fiscal benefits from the deferred tax benefit recorded by Hydro One.  These regulations would ensure that all fiscal benefits associated with broadening Hydro One's ownership are credited to the trust for infrastructure investments under Moving Ontario Forward."

The second document that was attached to that undertaking was the Financial Accountability Office of Ontario's An Assessment of the Financial Impact of the Partial Sale of Hydro One, and it was dated October 2015.

And at Adobe page 419 of that document the FAO reports that:
"In addition, the Province has committed to credit the gain from Hydro One's deferred tax assets to the Trillium Trust, estimated by the FAO to be 1.9- to $2.7-billion."

The third document that was attached was the Treasury Board Secretariat's Public Accounts of Ontario Annual Report of the Consolidated Financial Statements, 2015 to 2016, that was signed by Minister Souza.  At page 542 of that document the passage reads:
"The transition into federal and provincial corporate income-tax regime also resulted in Hydro One eliminating a deferred tax liability and recognizing a deferred tax asset in 2015-2016 which reflects reduced cash taxes payable by Hydro One for some period in the future.  The province's proportionate share of the deferred tax benefit increased the province's revenue by 2.4 billion and is reflected in income from government business enterprises."

If we go over the page, again Adobe page 543 to 5 -- which is page 77 of the actual report, there is a chart, and in that chart on the last line item there is a recording that shows that, indeed, a portion of Hydro One deferred tax benefit recorded, recorded by the Province through Hydro One Limited consolidation reflected in income from general -- government business enterprises was recorded at $2.392 billion.

The Trillium Trust Act and the Trillium Trust Regulations are matters of law.  You can take judicial notice of them.  But that number is reflected -- or numbers are reflected in terms of the non-cash benefit that is intended and has been recorded by the province to flow from this deferred tax benefit into the Trillium Trust for purposes of infrastructure investment.

So when we go to the DRO decision and we look at section 5.1, paragraph (s) of that decision, and the Board has concluded that says:
"That the shareholder did not assign the deferred tax asset to shareholder but the province did indeed just that."

There is an inconsistency on the face of the record between that decision, that statement, and indeed what the province has done.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, where is the reference?  I'm sorry.

MR. NETTLETON:  The DRO decision, which is found at tab 3 of our motion record.

MS. SPOEL:  Tab 3, the September 28th document?  Two?


MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, tab 2 --


MS. SPOEL:  Yes, it's the DRO --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  -- okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  And it's page 13, and it is paragraph (s).

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  So where it says that the shareholder did not assign the deferred tax asset, they have.

Now, in reply to Staff's submission at page 5, again, their -- in their submissions they say that this decision has or could have an indirect impact on plans to sell Hydro One's shares, but that does not, and I quote, improperly intercede on any ministerial or government decisions.

That's found at page 6.  But that's not true.  And again, it doesn't jive with the statements that the province has made in publicly disclosed and available information that was put on the face of the record in this proceeding.  And that is the error.

Now, Mr. Vels, again, at Volume 11, starting around page 24, had a very lengthy explanation of this.  And again, he was placed in the unenviable position of having to put himself into the shoes of the province in doing that, just like Mr. Shepherd was doing with respect to this committee transcript.  We say that the best source of information to be inquiring into this, if you are going to inquire into this, is through a review of Exhibit J11.2.

That didn't happen.  Or at least if it did happen, it it's certainly not shown on the face of the record, and this is a material issue.  This was an issue having significant impact.

The second area that I want to speak to --


MS. DUFF:  What date was that filed on the -- J11.2?  Sorry.

MR. NETTLETON:  It was on day 11 of the transcript.

MS. DUFF:  So it did happen during that day?

MR. NETTLETON:  Absolutely, and the reference to the undertaking -- oh, when did the actual material get filed?

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  I'd have to check.

MS. DUFF:  It was subsequent to the oral hearing being completed?

MR. NETTLETON:  I don't know when exactly.

MS. DUFF:  You could find it?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Sorry for interrupting.

MR. NETTLETON:  The second area that we'd like to speak in reply to is this notion that SEC has raised of causation of the cost.  There clearly, Panel, is a difference in views between Hydro One and SEC regarding the concept of cost causation and, I guess, the phrase of how far do you go.

Mr. Shepherd's view and SEC's view seems to be that you only go so as far as to examine the PILs departure tax and you compare that to the FMV bump arising from the application of the federal Income Tax Act.  You look at that only and you say whether or not there is a causal link between the two.  Without more, his view is that there isn't, ergo it's appropriate to focus on just the bump, and apply RP-2004 in doing so because, on its own, there is no cost.

The view that Hydro One takes is different than that.  The view that Hydro One takes is that cost causation requires you to take a more holistic view and look at what has happened, and what the event was that triggered the bump.  The event that triggered the bump was inextricably linked to the shareholders' decision to sell its ownership interest.  All of the other events have happened because of that.  None of the individual events could arise or happen without the shareholder taking that step.  That's the application of law.  That's the application of the two statutory regimes that are in place.

The whole purpose of the two schemes is to ensure there is parity between the schemes, that when you move from one scheme to the other, it's not going to result in a -- in some form of arbitrage.

So, we say for the purposes of the interdependency argument that Mr. Shepherd has said should apply and you should take a narrow focus, we say look at -- look at this from a far more objective viewpoint and look right back to what has caused this cost, and that's the shareholders' decision to sell the interest.

SEC argues that the Board should look through the form to the substance of the transaction, and we agree.  The IPO was the direct cause of the PILs departure tax, the equity infusion, the step-up in the asset value, the higher CCA deductions, and the many million dollars of banking, legal, and security costs that went along with this transaction as part of the transaction cost.

What SEC effectively is asking the Board to do is to ignore all of the costs of the IPO, and flow-through to customers, the one and only benefit, the tax deduction, and that this should be seen for really what it is.  It is a heads, I win, tails, you lose proposition.

And that sort of came out in Ms. Velshi's questions to Mr. Shepherd today, when it came to the discussion of the MEU, what circumstances would arise here in the context of an MEU as opposed to the province owning the shares.

We didn't get a clear answer from Mr. Shepherd on this.  The answer that we received was these are unique circumstances, that the fact that the government of Ontario is the taxing authority and also the shareholder are facts that would be different than in any MEU.

But the difference is important in that in the MEU, if this Board's decision were to apply, again the cost would have been incurred by the municipality.  The benefits would have flowed to the ratepayer, and the only way in which the MEU would have been able to recover the cost is to flow it through two ratepayers.  And so instead of bearing the cost of the PILs tax, they would be saying, well, if I'm going to be stuck with this cost and not getting any of the benefits, what's the normal course of action?  It's going to be to try and have that cost recovered through ratepayers, if they're going to get the benefit.

Well, that takes us back to the discussion that, Ms. Duff, you and I had about if that had happened in these circumstances, if Hydro One had said PILs tax, PILs departure tax, they are one in the same creature out of the statute, same regime, over to you, but we're going to recover them through rates, think of the implications that that would have been.

The clear policy that Hydro One was trying to overcome was rate impact, was avoiding the rate impact that would be associated with a $2.3 billion expenditure that would have come in through a revenue requirement.

If this is the policy of the Board, think about this from the context of the MEU's perspective.  If payment of PILs is not something that is one which the benefits of that cost can flow through, but can only be resolved through ratepayer treatment, think about how that's going to influence the government's policy with respect to consolidation.

Mr. Shepherd and the SEC have referred to the argument surrounding the actual tax rule, and this also received some questioning from you on this rule.  SEC's argument is that the normal rule is to recover only taxes paid.  But the RP-2004 decision, as correctly pointed out, says there are exceptions to the normal rule, but justifications are required to depart.

We say here there is justification to depart.  The PILs departure tax was an actual tax.  It was not paid by ratepayers and so we are already in the realm of exception, and not the normal rule.  The tax was paid and it hasn't sought recovery.  That should not lead to conclusions that suggest Hydro One is somehow collecting tens of millions of dollars of revenue that relate to costs that it hasn't, or in fact is going to incur.

Hydro One paid a tax, paid the PILs departure tax.  The only way it was going to recover the benefit of that tax payment was through the bump in the CCA.

That, when compared to the tax -- income tax that was included again in the revenue requirement of Hydro One in prior years versus what was paid for or what was applied for in this rate period, the amounts are based on the same formula.

So it's hardly the case to say that tens of millions of dollars of increased costs were going to be recovered from ratepayers in an unreasonable fashion.  It is simply the case of recognizing the difference and the exception to the normal rule and the need for having income taxes calculated on a basis different than actual taxes paid.

Why?  Because Hydro One paid the cost, not ratepayers.  If Hydro One is going to not receive the benefit then ratepayers should have to pay the cost.

Now, regarding the allocation methodologies and the discussion that took place with Mr. Shepherd and members of the Panel regarding the methodologies and the notion that there is, perhaps, need for rehearing on allocation methodologies, that's the position of both SEC at 3.9.23 and also Staff at page 8.

Our simple submission is that if there's going to be, if there is need for a rehearing -- and again, our submission is that there isn't -- that the proper way to handle the error is to address the fundamental error and everything else will fall out, and that fundamental error is, recognize that the PILs departure tax in its entirety was a real cost.  But if there is some need for a rehearing, then it cannot be a case of simply limiting a particular aspect of the decision and letting everything else fall from -- or allow the rest of the decision, as it relates to the tax issue, to remain standing.

We say this because if the error that exists on the record relates to -- Ms. Velshi, and you and I are both of the view that -- I'll refer to it as option 2, the share owner (sic) methodology -- if that is the issue, we have to realize that the Board's mind in developing these allocation methodologies applied itself to the creation of two methodologies.

And they are inextricably -- they are linked.  It was a choice, but the problem here, the error here, relates to, again, the proper characterization of the PILs departure tax, and that it was variable, and that it was waivable, and that this allowed the Board to then develop or go down a path of developing allocation methodologies.  It was based on that finding.

In the benefits follows cost -- sorry, in the shareholder methodology, the Board came out and found in part the cost was real, that the benefits follows cost principle is a principle that is relevant.  We need to consider that and consider it in the light of the facts that were before the Board.

With respect to the recapture methodology, again, both methodologies flowed from the same finding of variability.  And so if you are going to re-hear or if you are going to look at these issues of allocations, you need to take it up to a higher level and look at this issue of the proper characterization of the cost.

And we say you can do that yourselves.  We say that's something that can be done by this Panel.  And once that's done the allocation issue resolves itself.  The cost is real.  The cost was paid.  It was not recovered by ratepayers, and therefore the benefits should not be attributed to ratepayers.

Now, I'm now at a point in my submissions where we are dealing with one-off points.  There is just a couple of points that I would refer to.  First on the standard of review that Staff have raised at pages 3 and 5 of its submission and CME raises at paragraph 10.

This is the conclusion that I referred to earlier about reasonableness, and we take a different light -- or a different view.  We say review Rule 42.01, because it says correctness.  Examine the Natural Gas Interface Review proceeding, the NGEIR decision, because it also says the standard is correctness.

The 2005 Natural Gas -- or Natural Resource Gas Limited decision which Staff cite at page 4 says "error in law or principle", and our argument is that the misapplication of principles and findings without evidence are factual errors, and that go to the correctness of the decision, and in any event, the result that has been achieved is unreasonable.

Staff have -- at page 5 have discussed the concept of jurisdiction.  And we just wish to be clear that the argument that we have -- and the arguments that we are making here are not based on a lack of jurisdiction.  The issue that we see is legislative consistency.

The jurisdictional argument that Staff raised -- or the jurisdictional comments that were raised by Staff were in respect of the consideration of the recovery of income taxes, and that the payment of the PILs departure tax was somehow beyond your purview -- beyond your ability to review.  That is not our argument.  Our argument is again the consistency of the scheme and how that legislative consistency has been applied in this case.

What -- and to make the point here, what Staff have said is although the decision may have an indirect impact on plans to sell Hydro One shares, that this is true of many elements of OEB decisions, and that that is a finding that should be allowed to stand.  The decision should be allowed to stand, because even though that there is an impact on shares and the issuance of shares, that that isn't uncommon.

What is uncommon and what was not taken into account is section 48.2 of the Electricity Act.  And that section, Panel, as you know, prevents Hydro One from selling more than 40 percent of its shares -- sorry, 60 percent of its shares.

When we get to the point of legislative consistency, the issue is really this.  What the shareholder methodology could be viewed as or characterized as, in our view, is that it's okay -- it's okay because all that has to happen is the province just needs to sell its shares.  If the province decided to sell all of its shares, well, then the province would get the full value of the tax -- of the CCA bump.

But that can't happen.  Section 48.2 precludes that.  This isn't the case of an indirect effect.  This is a direct effect that this decision has not given regard to that reality.

In reply to section 3.63 of SEC's submission that there is no discontinuity between the provisions of the legislation, because the province's discretion to dispose of securities didn't happen.  That's what SEC's position is.

We say that's not the point.  The point is not about past transition or transactions.  The point is about how this decision again requires the province effectively to dispose of all of its shares to receive the benefit of the entire deferred tax deduction.

It is the future transaction, not the past, and that is a problem, given that that part of your legislation, the OEB Act's legislation, says you should not be concerning yourself with transactions, share dispositions, share sells, share acquisitions by the owners of shares by a parent or of a utility.

The legislative consistency of this decision is therefore of great concern to us.  If there is inconsistency with how this decision matches up against both the bar under the Electricity Act and also the sections of the Ontario Energy Board Act that deal with your authority being excluded from looking at transactions, dispositions of shares of shareholders of utilities.

I'm now –

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Nettleton, I think you refer -- I think we do generally look at dispositions of shares of utilities.  I think it's specifically not allowed to look at the disposition of shares of Hydro One.  I think there is an exception.  Am I right about that?

I mean, we certainly do regularly look at the disposition of shares of utilities.

MR. NETTLETON:  It's certainly the case that under MAAD transactions, you look at sales -- mergers acquisitions and dispositions of shares.

MS. LEA:  It is a specific exclusion in the act with respect to Hydro One.

MS. SPOEL:  That's what I thought.  In any event, with respect to Hydro One, we don't.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  That's probably all that matters here since we are talking about Hydro One.

MR. NETTLETON:  Let me turn to the topic of the Niagara regional projects and the AFUDC.

The facts, as Staff have outlined in their submission, are ones that we did not necessarily agree with -- do not necessarily disagree with, other than this characterization that the tentative deal is, as they say, not sufficiently persuasive.  That's the fair terminology.

With respect, that's a conclusion that can only be made based on the evidence and by the decision-maker, and that evidence hasn't even been put before any board.  It's new evidence.

The issue that we think arises here really requires this Panel to go back to and look at what was said in the original case, where the Board came out with a decision that said this is a sensitive situation.  There are blockades arising.  There has been investments made and we are going to treat the investments that Hydro One has made in the partial construction of this asset as being through an allowance for funds used during construction.

In this proceeding, there was a lengthy process where issues were set out and an issues list developed.  We don't see on the issues list any reference to the Niagara regional project, or AFUDC associated with the Niagara project, or a reconsideration or review or request to reconsider or review the original decision.

In fact, we see very little evidence on the record of this proceeding regarding the topic as is outlined in our motion.

So it is very difficult for Hydro One to accept the proposition, as Staff have suggested, that we should have been the ones, and we should have been the ones who have brought forward and addressed AFUDC as part of our evidence in this proceeding.  What Hydro One was working from was the operation and the continued operation of the original decision, which said continue to treat the investments that you've made through an allowance for funds used during construction account.

There was no suggestion before this decision of any difference.  Indeed, during the hearing itself and the process leading up to the oral hearing, there was no suggestion that this was going to be an issue in the hearing.

MS. SPOEL:  So, Mr. Nettleton, are you saying that sort of as a matter of fairness, I guess, or process, that unless the Board or some part -- other party to the proceeding clearly raises the issue that this payment, or any other payment for that -- or any other change to the status quo, I guess.  I think what you're saying is essentially this was the status quo and if the Board wanted to change the status quo it should have put Hydro One -- somebody should have put Hydro One on notice that it was thinking of doing this before just going ahead and doing it.  Is that essentially what I your argument is?

MR. NETTLETON:  Especially given that there was a decision given by the Board that said treat this using AFUDC.

If you are going to alter that, there is a reason to alter it, there needs to be notice that that happens, or that that's the intent.

MS. SPOEL:  Was there any discussion of the issue during the oral hearing or in argument?

MR. NETTLETON:  In oral -- so, in the oral proceeding, as noted in our notice of motion, there was one question asked who to our finance panel about the status update on the topic.  And the witness answered, I'm not aware of it.  I'm not aware of those circumstances.  I can't help you.

 I think that the good news in this, though, Madam Chair, is the nature of the issue that Staff have raised and that is what's the update, where is this project, and how is this agreement going.  And the good news to report is that this is a matter that no doubt will be taken up and explored in the next transmission rate case, which is about to be filed in the next quarter.

The real issue is, was there a reasonable basis to change or alter the past treatment of AFUDC in this proceeding?  And we say no.  We say that the AFUDC treatment that was afforded to this project in the past should continue to be afforded in the future, and the best evidence of that is the new evidence that has now come before this Panel; namely, that a multilateral deal has been struck, that there is a tentative agreement between the province, between the First Nations, and Hydro One, and that's the new evidence and new facts and new circumstances that we are relying on and asking you to alter the decision based on that conclusion.

And if they are wrong, or if this wants to be -- if this issue needs to be tested again, there is a form for that to happen very quickly.

Regarding the Ombudsman's office costs, this is a very important issue, Madam Chair, Panel members, because the Ombudsman office is new.  The Ombudsman's office has a very specific mandate, and the Ombudsman's office and the Ombudsman takes that mandate very seriously.

The mandate is prescribed by legislation.  It, by legislation, is for the purpose of providing benefit to customers.

The clarification that Hydro One is seeking from you is very straightforward:  confirmation that the Ombudsman's office are costs that are going to be allowed and recoverable in rates and, secondly, that the costs that Hydro One incurs for its chairman are costs that are recoverable in rates, and that both of those amounts as applied for are reasonable.

The curious thing that's happened in this case and through this proceeding is that other intervenors have now waded in on this question, particularly on the question of whether Ombudsman's office costs should be recoverable from ratepayers.

Maybe I've spent too much time looking at the tax issue, but it strikes me that we have, in a very microcosm-like way, the same issue.  We have a statute.  We have benefits being accrued to the customer.  But we have the ratepayers saying we don't want to pay for those, we don't want to pay for the costs that give rise to those benefits.  We're happy to receive the benefits, we just don't want to see those costs included in our rates.

We say that is unreasonable.  We say that the cost of the Ombudsman's office are derived from statute and they are for a specific purpose.  They are for the customer's benefit.  It would be nonsensical to have -- and it would be, quite frankly, inconsistent with the role of the Ombudsman if the Ombudsman's role is to effectively monitor and enquire into Hydro One to have the shareholders pay that cost.  That would not seem to be consistent with the objectives of the Ombudsman's office.

So what we ask in this decision that you make is clarity around whether the ombudsman's office costs are costs that should be borne by ratepayers, or recovered from ratepayers, and whether the chairman's costs are equally costs that are properly incurred and recovered from ratepayers, and that both of those costs were reasonable as applied for.

MS. SPOEL:  So Mr. Nettleton, we talk about the costs being reasonable.  My understanding of the decision is that there was an envelope for OM&A costs which would cover all sorts of things, including regulatory costs and all kinds of things that -- you know billing and computers and all the rest of it, all sorts of things that are to the benefit of ratepayers generally, and that there weren't specific amounts earmarked for specific functions.

Are you suggesting that you want us to have the costs of the Ombudsman to be incremental to that envelope or simply to clarify that they are permitted to be paid within that envelope?

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, we certainly want the latter.

MS. SPOEL:  To be paid within the envelope?

MR. NETTLETON:  We would certainly want that determination clarification.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  But when we look at the decision and we look at what was applied for versus what was reduced, the matters of the reduction were very specific.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  And the argument that intervenors have now made is that the Ombudsman's costs are, in fact, transformation costs, and we say that's not the case.  We say those are costs, so if those costs have not been incurred or included in the envelope, they need to be included in the envelope.  They can't be part of the reduction.  That's the point.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  Okay, thanks.

MR. NETTLETON:  I want to conclude my remarks, Panel, by offering some observations of the policy implications that would arise if this decision stands.  First is, ask yourself what happens to the province and the province's decision to record this amount, the deferred tax benefit amount, and its expectations with respect to same.

Ask yourself also about the impairment that is going to be caused to Hydro One.  If this decision is allowed to stand, the Board would be saying that the rate-making exercise is really about who and the individual owners are of the shares of the parent of the utility.

The Board would be saying that it's okay, it's acceptable if rates increase because of the actions of one shareholder, namely, the province, who decides to sell or exchange its shares.  If there is somehow a way for those shares that the province owns to be sold or exchanged, that would then allow a portion of that benefit to then be realized.  But utility rates would remain unaffected if any other shareholder sold or acquired shares in Hydro One as a parent.

And with respect to how Hydro One would be tasked the responsibility of looking into and administering and managing the affairs of its one shareholder and determining whether or not that one shareholder had sold or exchanged shares for purposes of calculating rates, how is that reasonable and how is that in any way related to the rate-making exercise?

Cost causation and cost responsibility are important concepts that can't just simply be ignored or lessened by fictions.  They are real issues.  The characterization of the PILs departure tax has to be examined based on facts.  The facts were before this Board.  There were errors made.

So in terms of the requested relief, the simplest result that we see is to correct the error, find that the PILs departure tax was not variable, given the tax is not variable.  It was all paid by Hydro One and as a result, the benefits that follow the costs and those then can be used for purposes of paying back the tax that Hydro One paid.

In the alternative, if a rehearing is necessary, we submit that the panel that is in the best position to convene the rehearing and to hear evidence is this Panel.

As you mentioned at the outset, you've taken significant time and effort to review the record.  You have that knowledge, and it strikes us that you are in the best position to carry forward with it.

Those are our submissions.  We thank you for your time and subject to any questions.


MS. VELSHI:  Thank you, a couple of questions.  So not having seen Exhibit J11.1 -- 11.2, when you were discussing different aspects of it, providing the evidence that the province actually shows the departure tax coming and so on, you used the term non-cash fiscal benefits a few times.

What does that mean, non-cash fiscal benefits?

MR. CANNON:  So what the province did is book the future tax savings as a benefit, and recorded it as an amount that would be dedicated to the Trillium Trust.

So the non-cash benefit will be in the value of their shares.  So the tax benefit, if it is appropriately allocated to shareholders and not used to reduce rates, then there would be -- the value would be in the shares.  So the province would either realize that through share dispositions, or realize that through distributions from Hydro One, the way any shareholder would receive dividends and other distributions from a company.

So it appears on the record that it was clear that the province thought that having -- the cost of the PILs departure tax having being paid for and borne by Hydro One, that that clearly was connected to the related tax benefit of the step-up in the cost.  There would be future tax savings associated with that, and that that was appropriately reserved to the shareholder.

MS. VELSHI:  I just wondered why it wasn't shown as cash as opposed to the shares.

MS. VELSHI:  Well, I think maybe because it's going to be realized over time, so it is not a current cash benefit.  It is only realized over time through reductions in income taxes.

MS. VELSHI:  Okay, thank you.  My second question is again this benefit following cost.  The payment of the departure tax allowed the valuation of the company to be higher.  So the benefit -- there is also a benefit that the province is realizing greater revenue with the sale of shares.  As opposed to just the future tax asset, there is the greater revenue in the sale of shares, is there not?

MR. CANNON:  I think in terms of determining the amount of the departure tax and the amount the province would realize on a sale of shares, I think it was recognized that if the departure tax was paid for out of assets of Hydro One, then you would have reduced the value of the company.  That is certainly correct, and I think the decision recognized that the province, you know, wanted to inject $2.6 billion back into Hydro One to avoid that valuation drop, so that the province could receive the $2.6 billion, have that applied against the stranded debt, and then make the investment in the company which it would then be able to realize, in part, the benefit through a sale of, in the first instance, 15 percent of the shares.

I'm not sure if I've really answered your question.

MS. VELSHI:  No, not quite.  So the cost to the -- the cost to Hydro One paid for by the province is the departure tax --


MR. CANNON:  I would say the cost of the departure tax was paid by Hydro One.

MS. VELSHI:  By Hydro One.

MR. CANNON:  Not by the shareholder because of --


MS. VELSHI:  Right, I understand.  But the shareholder benefitted from that because first they got additional shares, they still had the hundred percent, but the value of the shares was higher as a result of the province having injected equity.

So, you know, I'm trying to match the benefit to the cost.  And fair, there is the departure tax and then there is the future tax asset, but the other benefit is that the value of the shares is higher as a result of this transaction, too.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think the question is relative to what?  The value of the shares, had the shareholder not made the injection, as Mr. Cannon has said, the value would be lower.

MS. VELSHI:  Right.

MR. NETTLETON:  If Hydro One financed the cost of the departure tax through ratepayers, there would be no change in value.  So what the injection did was it maintained, it preserved the value of Hydro One.  It didn't increase the value; it maintained the value of Hydro One.

MS. VELSHI:  Right.  So I'm just saying it is relative to other options of how you would have paid for the departure tax.

MR. NETTLETON:  Right.

MS. VELSHI:  The shareholder benefits both from -- the province, as the shareholder, benefits both from future reductions in taxes as a result of the FMV bump and the CCA, as well as the increased revenue from the sale of 60 percent.

MR. NETTLETON:  But the province has lost a stream of PILs payments that it could have otherwise used that 2.6 billion for a different purpose.

MS. VELSHI:  I understand.  I am just trying to say there are few benefits in here.  It isn't just one and the other, right?

MR. NETTLETON:  From the province's perspective, I'm sure there are lots of reasons behind -- public policy reasons why they chose to sell the shares.

MR. CANNON:  I think the -- valuation is done of the assets of the company to determine the amount of the tax payable, and once you trigger that tax, then you have reduced the value of the company by the amount of that tax.

By putting the capital back in, you are just restoring the value back to what it was; you are not creating additional value.

MS. VELSHI:  Right, right.  But the argument is being made that because we paid -- there was this payment of the departure tax, there is symmetry, there is matching, so the shareholder should get the full benefit of the future tax asset.

But besides that, there is also that additional benefit that you've actually got more money from the sale of shares because they are valued more, having paid this cost up here.

MR. NETTLETON:  So the value that the province received from the sale of its shares was sold to the general public, obviously, and the portion that the province has not sold and cannot sell is effectively still impaired by the -- there is no way of recovering that portion of the cost.

MS. VELSHI:  Yeah, that part I was okay with.

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.

MS. VELSHI:  And then I had a quick question on the Ombudsman's office more for clarification, clarification on the clarification that you are seeking in the decision.  And so the decision doesn't say that the Ombudsman's costs are not reasonable or should not be recovered; it is just silent on all of that.

The questions that the intervenors have raised have been subsequent to you filing the motion, and so my question really is the decision was silent on all of it.  If these are issues now that you are seeking clarification, it's not better to -- next time you come in front for a rate hearing and if there are issues, that's when you table it, as opposed to this past decision, which was silent on all of this.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think the issue, Ms. Velshi, is deserving attention now, as opposed to later.  And that's again because of the intended operation of the Ombudsman's office.  If it's not the case that these costs are intended to be recovered from rates, it, I think, would -- or ratepayers -- it strikes me that it would alter the intended purpose and function of the office.

And so having the Board clarify for Hydro One in the clearest of terms whether or not the Ombudsman's costs are intended to be recovered from ratepayers or not is a very fundamental, I think, issue for the Ombudsman's office and its role in how it carries out its affairs.

If the costs are intended -- if there is silence on it, if it's uncertain, it strikes me that this function and role is not going to be able to be carried out in the same manner or with the same degree of clarity that it would be able to carry out if it knows that its role is for customers and is going to be recovered by customers, and as will be held to a standard of saying by this Board, show me what you've done lately.  Show me that it is prudent for us to inquire into how your costs have been incurred and what you have done to ensure that those costs are reasonable.

But if we don't have that clarity, I think we are then into a no man's land situation of saying, well, is this something that is within the purview of the Board or is it not within the purview of the Board.

MS. VELSHI:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  I just had one question regarding the Ombudsman's cost.  Was that on the issues list for the hearing?

MR. NETTLETON:  I don't believe so, no.

MS. DUFF:  And so this Panel, which is the motion panel, is going to decide on something that wasn't even on the issues list for the previous case?  That's what you're asking us to do?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, I am.  I am asking you, and I do realize the inconsistency, but the inconsistency here is driven off of the clarity, and all we are seeking is clarity one way or the other.

And I -- in my respectful submission, that clarity can and should be given, because it is a fundamental issue.  It is simply an issue of clarity of, are the Ombudsman's costs in or out.

And the need for that clarity is now more pronounced than ever when we see other intervenors coming into and wading into this to say, no, they're out.  They are transformation costs.

MS. DUFF:  What evidence do we have before us to make that decision?

MR. NETTLETON:  The statute.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, all right, I think that concludes.  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, you are looking anxious?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Madam Chair, I'm just wondering whether you wanted comment from other parties on some of these issues you have raised, but apparently not.

MS. SPOEL:  I think there is probably enough in the written submissions that we're able to muddle our way through.

MR. NETTLETON:  Through my help from Mr. Stephenson I can advise that J11.2 was filed on December 14th, 2016.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  And that was in the middle of the oral evidence.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, if I can clarify, it was 
not -- I believe that was the last day of the oral -- the last day of the hearing.  And so likely filed after the last day of the hearing.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Thank you all for your help.  It's a difficult -- issues, and all the submissions have been extremely helpful to us, so we'd like to thank you all.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 2:18 p.m.
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